# PXR IN BRAIN: NOVEL METHODS TO CHARACTERIZE ITS BIOLOGY

By Xunan Shen

Submitted to the graduate degree program in Pharmacology and Toxicology and the Graduate Faculty of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Chair: Jeff Staudinger, Ph.D.

Nancy A. Muma, Ph.D.

Honglian Shi, Ph.D.

Date Defended: April 26<sup>th</sup> 2017

The thesis committee for Xunan Shen certifies that this is the approved version of the following thesis:

# PXR IN BRAIN: NOVEL METHODS TO CHARACTERIZE ITS BIOLOGY

Chair: Jeff Staudinger, Ph.D.

Date Approved: April 27<sup>th</sup> 2017

#### ABSTRACT

Pregnane X receptor (PXR, NR112) belongs to the nuclear receptor superfamily of ligand-activated transcription factors and was identified in 1998. PXR is highly expressed in the liver and intestine, and is involved in regulating the expression of genes that encode important drug metabolizing enzymes as well as several key drug transporter proteins. Previous studies have found that ligand-mediated activation of PXR can increase the expression of multidrug resistance protein 1 (Mdr1) in the endothelial cells in the intestine in mice. However, there is no correlation between PXR activation and Mdr1 gene expression levels in liver hepatocytes in these animals. Thus, PXR biology exhibits a curious phenomenon in that there appears to be a tissue-specific role of this nuclear receptor superfamily member. Currently, the molecular mechanism(s) underlying this phenomenon are not known, but we hypothesize here that tissue-specific PXR-binding and co-regulatory/accessory proteins likely play a key role in governing this phenomenon. While liver and intestine express high levels of PXR, other tissues have been found to express lower but significant levels of this nuclear receptor protein including kidney, ovary, stomach, and brain.

Several lines of evidence support the notion of a key role for PXR in regulating brain function. First, the expression of PXR was identified in 2004 in brain capillary endothelial cells. Lower levels of PXR were also detected in several brain regions of different species including rat, rabbit, pig, human, and mouse. Several key endogenous neurosteroidal compounds, including allopregnanolone, have been demonstrated to serve as PXR-ligands to dramatically increase the trans-activation capacity of this nuclear receptor family member. Finally, the proestrous rats infused with PXR anti-sense oligonucleotides to the ventral tegmental area significantly decreased levels of allopregnanolone, further suggesting an interface between PXR and allopregnanolone metabolism.

Therefore, the purpose of the research described in this thesis is (1) to develop a method for the identification of tissue-specific PXR-binding proteins, and (2) to characterize the potential effects of PXR deletion and PXR activation on the expression of the genes that encode the rate limiting enzymes in the production of allopregnanolone in mice. In the first study, I developed a novel protocol using adenovirus-mediated methods coupled with primary cultures of rat hepatocytes and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) to identify hepatocyte-specific PXR-binding proteins. In the second study, I tested the hypothesis that PXR can regulate  $5\alpha$ -reductase type 1 (Srd5 $\alpha$ 1) and type 2 (Srd5 $\alpha$ 2) gene expression levels in mouse brain. My results reveal that deletion of PXR in mice alters basal expression levels of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 in a tissue-specific manner. Additionally, Pregnenolone 16 $\alpha$ -carbonitrile (PCN) decreased Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 gene expression in the liver and several brain regions in both wild type and PXR knockout mice, suggesting that PCN-mediated decrease of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 gene expression is in a PXR-independent manner.

Taken together, the data presented in this thesis shed new light upon the role of PXR in regulating the expression of key target genes in the brain. In particular, the data suggest that while PXR plays a role in neurosteroid metabolism, there is also a key PXR-independent role in neurosteroid metabolism in several brain tissue types following exposure to steroidal compounds such as PCN. Finally, the biochemical procedures developed and validated in this thesis should be useful in identifying novel PXR-binding proteins from primary cultures of neuronal cells, as well as other cell types amenable to primary culture methods.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Jeff Staudinger, at the University of Kansas for all the help he gave in my two-year masters training program. His patience, encouragement and advice gave me the direction and led me through the mist towards my graduation. I learned not only science from him, but also life lessons. His care guides and encourages me every day. I am very grateful for what I have learned from him.

I would also like to express my thanks to my committee members for their support and suggestions. Dr. Muma has given me a lot of advice regarding my project and Dr. Shi is always supportive and encouraging.

In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Marco Bortolato's laboratory, specifically, Laura Mosher who trained me on mouse brain dissection. I'd like to give special thanks to my lab member Wenqi Cui for consistent help during this two years. She also trained me on my laboratory skills and provided primary liver hepatocytes to me.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my parents. Without their love and support, I can never make it so far.

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health National Institute of Digestive, Diabetic, and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) [Grant R01DK090558] (to J.L.S.), University of Kansas, Strategic Initiative Grant.

ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF FIGURES viii
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSx
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 1
Statement of Purpose
CHAPTER 2: A NOVEL METHOD TO IDENTIFY PXR BINDING PARTNERS
Introduction7
Materials and Methods
Plasmids and chemicals
Isolation and culturing of primary rat hepatocytes
Adenovirus infection and GFP fluorescence detection
Nuclei and cytosol fraction separation
Immobilized metal affinity chromatography assay10
Coommassie blue staining, silver staining and western blot analysis
Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry analysis
Results10
PXR overexpression by adenoviral infection10
Enrich PXR and binding proteins by IMAC11
Discussion

## **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECTS OF PXR A	CTIVATION AND DELETION ON 5α-
---------------------------------	-------------------------------

REDUCTASE GENE EXPRESSION
Introduction
Materials and methods
Drug preparation
Animal treatment administration
1 % RNA agarose gel
Reverse Transcription
Polymerase chain reaction
Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
8% DNA polyacrylamide gel27
Data analysis and statistics
Results
PXR mRNA level in wild type mice brain
The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Cyp3all, Oatp2, Srd5a1 and Srd5a2
expression in liver
The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 expression in brain 29
Discussion
CHAPTER 4: DISSCUSSION
REFERENCES

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	
Figure 5	
Figure 6Err	ror! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 7	
Figure 8 Fr	
	ror! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 9	ror! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 9	ror! Bookmark not defined. 

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Buffer condition	16
Table 2 Identified candidate PXR-binding proteins	17
Table 3. Primer sets sequences.	33

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3α-HSD	3a-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AF2	Activation function 2 region
APL	Acute promyelocytic leukemia
ATRA	Ll-trans-retinoic acid
NPC1	Niemann-Pick type C1
CAR	Constitutive androstane receptor
DSS	Dextran sulfate sodium
ERα	Estrogen receptor a
FXR	Farnesoid X receptor
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
HDAC1	Histone deacetylase 1
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IMAC	Immobilized metal affinity chromatography
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LXR	Liver X receptor
MDR	Multidrug resistance
MDR1	Multidrug resistance protein 1
NcoR	Nuclear receptor corepressor
NR	Nuclear receptor

Nup62	Nucleoporin 62
PCN	pregnenolone 16a-carbonitrile
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PHB1	Prohibitin 1
PHB2	Prohibitin 2
PXR	Pregnane X receptor
Rif	Rifampicin
RINF2	Ring finger protein 2
PIs	Protease inhibitors
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription- polymerase chain reaction
RT-QPCR	Quantitative real-time PCR
RT-QPCR SMRT	Quantitative real-time PCR Silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors
RT-QPCR SMRT SRC-1	Quantitative real-time PCR Silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors Steroid receptor coactivator-1
RT-QPCR SMRT SRC-1 Srd5α1	Quantitative real-time PCR Silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors Steroid receptor coactivator-1 5α-reductase type 1
RT-QPCR SMRT SRC-1 Srd5α1 Srd5α2	Quantitative real-time PCR Silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors Steroid receptor coactivator-1 5α-reductase type 1 5α-reductase type 2
RT-QPCR SMRT SRC-1 Srd5α1 Srd5α2 Srd5α3	Quantitative real-time PCR Silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors Steroid receptor coactivator-1 5α-reductase type 1 5α-reductase type 2 5a-reductase type 3
RT-QPCR SMRT SRC-1 Srd5α1 Srd5α2 Srd5α3 TBP	Quantitative real-time PCR Silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors Steroid receptor coactivator-1 5α-reductase type 1 5α-reductase type 2 5a-reductase type 3 TATA box binding protein
RT-QPCR SMRT SRC-1 Srd5α1 Srd5α2 Srd5α3 TBP VLDL	Quantitative real-time PCRSilencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptorsSteroid receptor coactivator-15α-reductase type 15α-reductase type 25a-reductase type 3TATA box binding proteinVery-low density lipoprotein

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

Pregnane X receptor (PXR, NR1I2) is a ligand-activated transcription factor that belongs to nuclear receptor (NR) superfamily. PXR has a wide range of ligands including lipids, bile acids, and different xenobiotics. Upon activation, PXR binds to a DNA sequence and then regulates its target gene expression.

Similar to other NRs, PXR has a DNA binding domain and a ligand binding domain connected by a hinge region. The DNA binding domain allows PXR to bind to regulatory DNA sequences and therefore regulate transcription process. The ligand binding domain allows PXR to bind to its ligand, dimerize with other nuclear receptors as well as interact with transcriptional co-factors [1]. PXR binds to RXR as a heterodimer to form a transcriptionally active complex [2-3]. When inactive, PXR-RXR forms a complex with corepressor proteins to inhibit transcriptional activity. Activation of PXR by ligands causes a conformational change, resulting in PXR disassociating from its co-repressors. PXR-RXR then recruits coactivators to enhance gene transcription. The main coactivator of PXR is steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) and the main co-repressors are silencing mediator for retinoid or thyroid-hormone receptors (SMRT), and nuclear receptor corepressor (NcoR) [4-5].

PXR plays a key role in different kinds of human health problems, including drug-drug interaction, lipid homeostasis, inflammatory based disorders, cancer, and chemotherapeutic resistance.

PXR is highly expressed in the liver and intestine, and can regulate the expression level of phase I P450 enzymes, phase II drug conjugation enzymes and phase III drug transporters [6-11]. Among them are the CYP3A4 enzymes which can metabolize more than 50% of the clinically used drugs [12] and CYP2B6 which contributes to 10% of the metabolism of clinically used drugs. Therefore, increases in these enzymes, by PXR activation, contributes to the turnover of drugs, and thus, causes drug-drug interactions.

PXR target genes are also involved in lipid metabolism. Activation of PXR chronically increases cholesterol and atherogenic low density lipoprotein (LDL) and very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL) plasma levels in wild-type (WT) mice. This effect was abolished in PXR-knockout (PXR-/-) mice [13], suggesting that PXR plays a role in lipid metabolism. The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) protease inhibitor (PI) Amprenavir has been shown to increase plasma total cholesterol and atherogenic low density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in wild-type mice, and this effect was totally abolished in PXR-deficient mice. Amprenavir activated PXR and induced CYP3A4, UGT1A1, and MDR1 gene expression in both human hepaRG hepatoma cells and LS180 intestinal cells [14].

PXR additionally contributes to the inflammatory response. Activation of mouse PXR by PCN repressed the NF- $\kappa$ B target genes expression in the dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) mouse model [15]. The interaction between NF- $\kappa$ B p65 and RXR DNA binding domain may inhibit the transactivation by the PXR/RXR complex [16]. Dubrac et al found that PXR expression is increased in T-lymphocytes, a marker of inflammation, following immune activation [17] and activation of PXR inhibits T-lymphocyte proliferation by decreasing the expression of CD25 and IFN- $\gamma$  [17]. These studies indicate that PXR activation can suppress inflammatory responses. Chronic inflammation can precede cancers including hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), colon cancer (CAC) and gastric cancer [18-19]. The roles of PXR are variable in different cancer tissue types. On the one hand, activation of PXR shows enhanced cell growth and invasion in human colon cancer xenograft mouse models [20], and protects colon cancer LS180 cells from apoptosis [21]. Activation of PXR also protects HepG2 human hepatoma cells from apoptosis [22]. These results suggest that PXR has an anti-apoptotic role in carcinogenesis. On the other hand, PXR shows a pro-apoptotic effect on endometrial and breast cancers [23-24]. Therefore these indicate that PXR has tissue-specific and cancer type-specific functions.

PXR activation can cause chemotherapy resistance. Chemotherapy is one of the major treatments for cancer. However, a large number of the patients experienced multidrug resistance (MDR) during chemotherapy. Jiang et al found that activation of PXR by Rif increased the resistance of colon cancer cells to chemotherapeutics, and shRNA-induced reduction of PXR increased sensitivity of LS174T colon carcinoma cells to chemotherapeutics [25]. In prostate cancer, activation of PXR caused chemotherapeutic resistance and shRNA-based down-regulation of PXR resulted in sensitization toward chemotherapeutic agents, mirroring what was found in colon cancer [26]. All-trans-retinoic acid (ATRA) is a chemotherapeutic agent used for treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) [27]. PXR ligands administrated with ATRA can increase ATRA metabolism by increasing CYP3A expression therefore causing ATRA resistance [28]. These results suggest that inhibition of PXR could be a target for reducing resistance to chemotherapeutics.

Recently, a low level of PXR expression has been detected in the brain in different species. PXR was found involved in Alzheimer's disease pathology [29]; activation of PXR delays the progression of neurodegeneration in human Niemann–Pick type C1 (NPC1) disease, a neurodegenerative disease related to the inability to process cholesterol [30]. Moreover, knock down of PXR decreased levels of allopregnanolone, an endogenous neurosteroid, which led to behavior changes in mice [31]. These indicate that certain type of neurosteroid may activate PXR and regulate PXR function in the brain.

#### **Statement of Purpose**

The PXR protein is highly expressed in both liver and intestine where it plays a key role in drug, steroid, and bile acid metabolism. Recently, a low level of PXR expression has been detected in the brain indicating the possibility that PXR may play a role in metabolic brain function, and perhaps in the pathogenesis of neuronal diseases. However, the precise role of PXR in the brain remains unknown. Based on these previous studies, we hypothesize that certain neurosteroids can activate PXR and regulate the expression of vitally important brain-specific PXR-target genes that function in mediating this clinically important phenomenon. Understanding this mechanism may play a key role in finding new drug targets for many neurological diseases.

To date, activation of PXR in the liver and intestines is known to be achieved by numerous compounds including certain steroids, bile acids, natural products, and numerous drugs [32-34]. The increased expression of genes targeted by PXR encodes biochemically linked drug- and steroid-processing proteins that function to regulate the homeostasis of these compounds. For example, PXR activation up-regulates the activity of vital drug and steroid metabolizing enzymes, as well as key drug transporter proteins [35-36]. Drug metabolizing enzymes targeted by PXR include Cytochrome P450 (CYP) proteins CYP3A, CYP2B, and CYP2C [37-38]. PXR activation up-regulates the expression of genes encoding essential drug

and bile acid transporters including key members of the multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP) and multidrug resistance protein (MDR) families of membrane transporter proteins.

For this proposal, it is noteworthy that PXR activation dramatically increases the expression of Mdr1/P-Gp in the intestine [39]. However, there is no significant correlation between MDR1 expression level and PXR activation in the liver [40]. Taken together, this phenomenon illustrates the now widely accepted notion that PXR has tissue-specific functions as evidenced by the differential and tissue-specific regulation of its target genes. Currently, the molecular mechanism(s) responsible for this phenomenon are unknown. We hypothesize that the tissue-specific PXR co-regulatory protein environment likely mediates the tissue-specific function of PXR and is responsible for the differential regulation of its target genes in different tissues.

Our overall goal is to identify (1) tissue-specific PXR co-regulatory proteins and (2) brain-specific PXR-target genes.

In order to discover PXR-associated proteins, we transduced rat hepatocytes with adenovirus Ad-(His)<sub>6</sub>-human PXR for 48 hours to achieve a high level of expression of PXR. Together with a non-transduced control group, cells were harvested and the nuclei were extracted in hypotonic buffer. The (His)<sub>6</sub>-tagged PXR protein and its associated proteins were enriched by immobilized metal affinity chromatography (IMAC). Subsequently, enriched proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE gel and Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) detection was performed to identify proteins.

Total RNA was isolated by TRIZOL reagent, and reverse transcription- polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assay was used to detect qualitative expression of genes encoding PXR,

selected CYPs, as well as several key drug transporter proteins in seven mouse brain regions including amygdala, prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, hypothalamus, mid-brain, striatum, and cerebellum. Subsequently, an in vivo study was utilized to understand PXR's role in brain. Mouse PXR ligand PCN or corn oil as a control was injected intraperitoneally into wild-type and PXR-KO mice for 3 consecutive days. On day 4, mice were euthanized and brain regions were dissected and frozen in -80 °C RNA was isolated from these brain regions. Total RNA isolated from liver was also be used as a positive control group for known PXR-target gene induction. Quantitative real-time PCR (RT-QPCR) was used to quantitatively detect the expression of PXR in brain as well as selected known and potential PXR-target genes including those encoding key  $5\alpha$ -reductase enzymes Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and SrR5 $\alpha$ 2.

## CHAPTER 2: A NOVEL METHOD TO IDENTIFY PXR BINDING PARTNERS Introduction

Cancer is one of the major health problems in the United States. In 2016, an estimated 1,685,210 people were diagnosed as new cancer cases in the United States and around 595,690 people died from cancer [41]. Chemotherapy is one of the most common treatments for cancer. However, the efficacy of chemotherapy is limited because of the multidrug resistance (MDR) phenomenon [42], which is characterized as decreased drug concentrations in the cells as well as a decreased cancer cell response [43]. MDR often causes the failure of chemotherapy and eventually leads to the death. An estimated of 500,000 new cases of cancer will experience MDR each year [44].

MDR can be developed by multiple pathways, including decreased drug influx, increased drug efflux and activated drug detoxification metabolism pathways [45]. Multidrug resistance protein 1 (MDR1, also known as P-glycoprotein 1, P-gp) is an ATP-dependent transmembrane drug efflux transporter. MDR1 is expressed not only in the liver, intestine, kidney, but also in the brain. MDR1 can functionally protect the human body from xenobiotics by pumping them back into the bile ducts, urine, intestinal lumen as well as capillaries in the brain. However, this function can also cause failure of chemotherapy treatment in cancer. Thus, MDR1 overexpression is considered as a major cause of multidrug resistance leading to insufficient drug concentrations in cells [46]. This phenomenon was confirmed in many tumor cells including colon, kidney, breast, liver and pancreatic cells [47]. This suggests that the inhibition of MDR1 could be a strategy for overcoming drug resistance.

First generation inhibitors of MDR1 including quinine, cyclosporine A, and verapamil are already approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), but show toxic side effects at sufficient MDR1 inhibition doses [48-49]. Second generation inhibitors of MDR1, such as PSC-833, decreased the toxic side effects; however, also decreased the drug clearance systemically and increased the exposure of both normal tissue and cancer tissue to toxic drugs at the same time [50]. Therefore, the investigation of second generation inhibitors of MDR1 has been stopped due to high mortality rates [51]. Third generation inhibitors of MDR1 focused on increasing the affinity of MDR1 binding as well as decreasing the toxicity [52]. The investigations of third generation inhibitors are still ongoing. However, universal inhibition of MDR1 may still cause undesired and uncontrolled toxicity in the human body. Thus, it is necessary to find an alternative mechanism to decrease MDR1 expression or activity in order to overcome MDR.

MDR1 is known to be regulated by nuclear receptor PXR. Upon activation, PXR heterodimerizes with RXR to form an active complex to regulate target genes transcription processes [53]. Several groups found that PXR activation can significantly increase the expression of MDR1 in the intestine, but not in the liver [54]. The mechanism of this phenomenon remains unknown. However, it provides a new basis to regulate tissue-specific MDR1 expression, thus may offer new therapies for overcoming MDR.

PXR has a DNA-binding domain, a ligand-binding domain containing an activation function 2 region (AF2). The structure of AF2 allows PXR to recruit different transcriptional coregulatory proteins, including coactivators and co-repressors, which play critical roles in gene regulation processes. Thus we hypothesized that the tissue-specific PXR co-regulatory protein environment likely mediates the tissue-specific function of PXR and is responsible for the differential regulation of its target genes in different tissues. Here we reported a novel method to identify PXR co-regulators in primary cultured rat hepatocytes.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Plasmids and chemicals

The human PXR adenovirus was generated as previously described [55]. Briefly, PXR STOP codon was removed and EcoRV and Xho I restriction enzyme sites were introduced by PCR using (His)<sub>6</sub>-tagged PXR as a template. PCR product was inserted into the multiple cloning sites in pShuttle IRES-hrGFP expression vector. Then human PXR adenovirus was generated as previously described [56].

#### Isolation and culturing of primary rat hepatocytes

Adult male rats were allowed water and maintained on standard laboratory chow for one week. Primary hepatocytes were isolated from live rats using a standard collagenase perfusion procedure and the medium was replaced with serum-free Williams E medium four hours later as previously described [57].

#### Adenovirus infection and GFP fluorescence detection

Four 15-cm plates of non-transduced hepatocytes were used as a control group and four 15-cm plates of hepatocytes were infected with Ad-(His)<sub>6</sub>-hPXR (0.8 µl/plate). After 48 hours, GFP expression was observed and recorded using a fluorescence microscope.

#### Nuclei and cytosol fraction separation

Each plate of cells were harvested with 1.5 mL PBS containing protease inhibitors (Fisher, A32965) and centrifuged at 240 x g for 10min at 4 °C. Cell pellets were lysed by 5 pellet volumes of hypotonic buffer (**Table** 1) and centrifuged at 106 x g for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was saved as cytosol fraction, and the pellet as nuclei fraction.

#### Immobilized metal affinity chromatography assay

Nuclear fraction was re-suspended in 1.5 mL lysis buffer (**Table** 1) containing protease inhibitors and homogenized to mix thoroughly. Cobalt beads were pre-washed with lysis buffer and were added to each tube, agitated for 2 hours at 4°C to allow the cobalt beads to bind to (His)<sub>6</sub>-tagged proteins. Then samples were centrifuged at 425 x g for 1 min at 4°C, and washed with 1 mL wash buffer (**Table** 1) for 3 times by centrifuging at 425 x g for 1 min each time. 30  $\mu$ L 2x SDS sample buffer (with 50 mM DTT) was added to each sample tube.

#### Coommassie blue staining, silver staining and western blot analysis

Proteins were resolved on 4-15% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis gels and coommassie blue staining was performed by adding coommassie blue dye and agitating for 30 min. Then the gel was de-stained in ddH<sub>2</sub>O for 10 min and saved for LC-MS/MS assay. Proteins were also resolved on 4-15% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis gels and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride microporous membranes (Millipore Bioscience Research Reagents) that were probed with anti-PXR antibody (H-11, Santa Cruz). Silver staining was performed as previously described [58].

#### Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry analysis

The LC–MS/MS analysis for identifying PXR binding proteins was performed as described previously [59]. Briefly, bands were cut and digested by trypsin, and then analyzed by LC-MS/MS.

#### Results

#### PXR overexpression by adenoviral infection

In order to increase hPXR expression in cells and limit adenovirus toxicity, time course and tittering experiments of Ad-(His)<sub>6</sub>-hPXR were performed in HepG2 and Hepa1-6 cells (data not shown) to determine adenovirus amount and transduction time. Primary rat hepatocytes were isolated and cultured as described and the experiment design is shown in **Figure** 1. In order to achieve high expression of human PXR to exceed the LC-MS/MS detection limitation, we used 4 15-cm plates of hepatocytes as an experimental group, and another 4 plates as control. Cells in experimental group were infected with Ad-(His)<sub>6</sub>-hPXR for 48 hours. Together with control group, cell morphology and GFP protein expression were observed and recorded using a fluorescence microscope. Because of the characteristics of internal ribosome entry site (IRES) in adenovirus expression vector, after translation, the expression of PXR protein should be more than 10 times the GFP protein expression. We achieved high expression levels of human PXR in hepatocytes (**Figure** 2). In addition, there was no significant difference in cell viability between the experimental group and control group, which suggests that our transduction method is efficient and non-toxic to primary hepatocytes.

#### Enrich PXR and binding proteins by IMAC

The string of histidine residues can bind to cobalt beads under specific buffer conditions and can be used to enrich (His)<sub>6</sub>-tagged proteins. We tried to perform immobilized metal affinity chromatography assays using whole cell lysates. However, the coomassie blue staining showed that numerous background proteins were also pulled down with cobalt beads (data not shown), indicating high level of non-specificity as well as high background for LC-MS/MS analysis assay. Upon activation, PXR is mainly located in the nuclei to regulate target gene transcription, so our proteins of interest should be located mainly in nuclei. We decided to use a biochemical method to extract the nuclei fraction from whole cell lysate and therefore to reduce background signals. Fractions were resolved and separated on 4-15% gradient SDS-PAGE gel, and coomassie blue staining showed that we significantly reduced background signal (**Figure 3**). We used nuclei marker, nucleoporin 62 (Nup62), and cytosol marker, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), to further confirm the efficiency of biochemical separation. Western blotting showed a successful separation between nuclei and cytosol fraction (**Figure** 3).

Mild buffer conditions (Imidazole and Tween-20) were used in lysis and washing buffers and all the samples were kept at 4 °C or on ice during the procedure to preserve the binding between PXR and its associated proteins. Immobilized metal affinity chromatography was performed with 25 µL sample of each group resolved and separated on 4-15% gradient SDS-PAGE gel. Compared with control group, the PXR overexpression group showed a significant enrichment of PXR proteins (**Figure** 4) in coomassie blue staining, and western blotting with anti-PXR antibody H-11 further confirmed this result (**Figure** 4). Many more bands appeared in the PXR overexpression group as compared to the control group in coomassie staining gel, which we think were potential PXR associated proteins.

The sensitivity limit of coomassie blue, in this case, instant blue, is 5 ng. Thus, proteins less than 5 ng cannot be visualized with coomassie blue staining. Sliver staining, however, is much more sensitive than coomassie blue, and can detect proteins as low as 0.25 ng/ µl. Therefore, we used silver staining to visualize lower concentrations of proteins as a guide for the LC-MS/MS assay. As expected, there were some bands detected with silver staining but not with coomassie blue, especially proteins larger than 180 kDa (**Figure** 5). Based on these results, we decided to use LC-MS/MS assay guided by silver staining to detect potential PXR associated proteins. LC-MS/MS assay was performed and multiple candidate PXR-binding proteins were identified (**Table** 2).

#### Discussion

In this study, we designed a novel method to identify PXR-binding partners that uses adenovirus-mediated overexpression of PXR in primary cultured rat hepatocytes. Nondenaturing IMAC-mediated purification methods are coupled with LC-MS/MS to identify copurified PXR-binding partners. Coomassie blue and silver staining showed high levels of enrichment of exogenously added PXR and its likely binding proteins, thus our buffer conditions are useful tools for this novel non-denaturing IMAC assay. Using this method, we identified Retinoid X receptor  $\alpha$  (RXR $\alpha$ ) as a heterodimeric partner of PXR. This is important because RXR $\alpha$  serves as the protein partner of numerous liver-enriched nuclear receptors including CAR, LXR, PPAR, as well as PXR [60]. The RXR $\alpha$  protein is expressed at high levels in liver, intestine, and kidney tissues [61]. Hence, this result lends a high level of confidence that our experimental approach is valid.

Of note, the TATA box binding protein (TBP)-associated factors (TAF) including TAF2, TAF5, and TAF6 were also identified as potential PXR binding partners in this study. TBP-associated factors contribute to the RNA polymerase II pre-initiation complex when bound with TBP [62]. Previously, nuclear receptors such as RXR $\alpha$  [63], progesterone receptor [64], and vitamin D receptor [65] were found to interact with this complex to increase the rate of transcription initiation. TAFs function as mediators between nuclear receptors and basal transcription factors in this process. Thus, it is highly likely that we isolated these proteins as a part of a multi-protein complex using PXR as a bait protein in this assay. These data lend further confidence in the validity of our methods.

Several novel candidate PXR-binding proteins including Prohibitin 1, Prohibitin 2, and Jun D, were also identified (**Table** 2). Prohibitins are involved in cell proliferation [66], survival, apoptosis [67], and signaling. Prohibitins, also known as PHB, are ubiquitously expressed and

divided into two classes called PHB1 and PHB2. They have been suggested to interact with different nuclear receptor proteins to modulate their transcriptional activity. While PHB2 binds to estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ) to repress its transactivation capacity [68], PHB also has a repressive effect on the androgen receptor (AR) [69]. In addition, PHB interacts with the important nuclear receptor co-regulatory proteins Nuclear Co-Repressor (NCoR), and histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1). Additionally, PHB interacts with retinoblastoma (Rb) to repress E2F family transcriptional activities [70-71]. As discussed previously, NCoR and HDAC1 are also well-known PXR co-regulatory binding proteins. Thus, it is highly possible that PHB is part of a multi-protein complex to regulate the transactivation capacity of PXR.

JunD is a transcription factor that belongs to JUN family. JunD functions as a coactivator of the nuclear receptor AR to form a complex that can bind to AR target gene to regulate its transactivation capacity [72]. It is therefore possible that JunD could also interact with the nuclear receptor PXR to modulate its transactivation capacity. Further research is necessary to determine the extent to which this is true.

Another potential binding partner identified is Ring finger protein 2 (RNF2), which is expressed in different cancer types including breast cancer [73], ovarian cancer [74], and pancreatic cancer [75]. To date, there is no evidence showing that RNF2 can interact with any nuclear receptors. It would therefore be interesting to investigate RNF2's biological function in terms of binding to and regulating PXR activity.

In comparison with other methods used to identify protein partners such as yeast twohybrid system, the method we developed here has several distinct advantages. First, our method utilized primary hepatocytes, or other primary cell types, with an appropriate cellular background. This fact allows for the identification of endogenous co-regulatory proteins from a pertinent repertoire of potential protein partners. In other words, binding partners are identified from a wild type context. Second, our method utilized full length PXR, as opposed to the artificial fusion of the GAL4-DBD and the PXR-LBD as occurs in the yeast two-hybrid system. Finally, our system allows for the use of PXR ligands, both agonists and antagonists, in the context of a wild type milieu.

In comparison with another commonly used method, transfection activity based enrichment of PXR and its binding proteins, our method using adenoviral infection assay has a high efficiency in terms of overexpression of PXR proteins. Instead of using HeLa cells, our method allows the use of wild type primary cultured cell types and therefore is useful for identifying tissue-specific PXR binding proteins.

Taken together, these data indicate that our method is valid for the identification of PXRassociated proteins from primary cultured hepatocytes, and can likely be used to identify tissuespecific PXR-binding partners in primary cultured cells isolated from other tissue types such as the primary cultures of enterocytes and neuronal cells. Future studies should commence with coimmunoprecipitation methods to further confirm binding between PXR and candidate PXRbinding proteins. Besides, the human PXR ligand, rifampicin, could be added to this assay in order to identify ligand-dependent PXR binding proteins. In addition, PXR co-regulatory proteins that can respond to inflammation can also be identified using stimulated cells under stress condition.

Lysis buffer	NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	50 mM
pH = 8.0	NaCl	300 mM
	Imidazo le	10 mM
	Tween 20	0.05%
Wash buffer	NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	50 mM
pH = 8.0	NaCl	300 mM
	Imidazo le	20 mM
	Tween 20	0.05%
Hypotonic Buffer	Tris (pH=7.7)	10 mM
	MgCl <sub>2</sub>	1.5 mM
	DTT (before use)	1 mM

Identified Proteins	Peptides Identified
heat shock protein 70	34
Cyclin-dependent kinase 9	21
Prohibitin 1	11
Retinoid X receptor alpha	7
TAF5 RNA polymerase II, TATA box binding protein (TBP)-associated	6
factor	
Cyclin-dependent kinase 12 isoform X1	5
Prohibitin 2	4
Jun D proto-oncogene	4
pre-mRNA-splicing regulator WTAP isoform a	4
Rbmx2 protein	4
Chaperonin containing Tcp1, subunit 3 (gamma)	4
TAF2 RNA polymerase II, TATA box binding protein (TBP)-associated	3
factor	
Ring finger protein 2	3
TAF6 RNA polymerase II, TATA box binding protein (TBP)-associated	3
factor, isoform CRAa	
Chaperonin containing TCP1, subunit 2 (beta)	2
Zinc finger protein 644 isoform X2	2





**Figure 1. Experimental design.** Liver perfusion was performed in live rats to get rat hepatocytes. Cells were infected with Ad-(His)<sub>6</sub>-hPXR-FLAG adenovirus for 48 hours, and lysed with non-denaturing lysis buffer. Nuclear fraction was extracted using a biochemical method, followed by immobilized metal affinity chromatography. Coomassie staining and Western blotting were performed to visualize PXR and its binding proteins. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) was performed to identify PXR binding partners.





**Figure 2. Adenovirus infection assay**. Primary rat hepatocytes were isolated and transduced with Ad-hPXR for 48 hours; cell morphology and GFP expression were detected using fluorescence microscope. Ø: Non-transduction control group, Ad-PXR: adenoviral infection group, GFP: GFP fluorescence in adenoviral infection group. Compared with the left panel, the middle panel showed that PXR adenovirus didn't cause significant cell damage, therefore is not toxic to hepatocytes in this dosage. GFP fluorescence showed a high overexpression of PXR protein.

Figure 3









Coomussie

**Figure 4. Coomassie staining and Western blotting**. Immobilized metal affinity chromatography was performed under native condition in nuclear fraction. Coomassie Staining and Western Blotting were used after IMAC to visualize PXR and its binding protein before LC/MS/MS. Ø: control group, Ad-hPXR: adenoviral infection group. Compared with control group, Ad-PXR group showed a strong enrichment of PXR proteins (58kDa). Western blotting with anti-PXR antibody (H-11) further confirmed this result.

Figure 5



**Figure 5. Silver staining and Western Blotting.** Silver staining and Western Blotting were performed after IMAC to visualize PXR and its binding proteins before LC/MS/MS. Ø: control group, Ad-PXR: adenoviral infection group. Compared with control group, more bands were appeared in Ad-PXR group with silver staining, especially proteins larger than 118kDa, suggesting an efficient enrichment and purification of PXR-binding proteins. Western blotting with H-11 antibody showed a successful enrichment of PXR proteins.

# CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECTS OF PXR ACTIVATION AND DELETION ON 5α-REDUCTASE GENE EXPRESSION

#### Introduction

PXR was initially identified as a nuclear receptor highly expressed in the liver and intestine, with low levels of expression in the kidney and stomach. However, recently PXR has been identified in the brain of multiple different species. Bauer et al. detected PXR expression in rat whole-brain homogenates and in isolated brain capillaries using RT-PCR [76]. They further confirmed this result by immunostaining rat brain capillaries with a PXR antibody. This is the first evidence showing the existence of PXR in the brain. The expression of PXR was confirmed in the mid brain of rats [77], human thalamus, medulla, pons and spinal cord [78], rabbit cortex [79], and mouse cerebellum, hypothalamus, and thalamus [80]. The role of PXR in the brain remains unknown; however, several studies found that PXR is involved in neurosteroid homeostasis.

Allopregnanolone is an endogenous neurosteroid which can bind to the GABAA receptor and regulate neurotransmission. At low concentration, allopregnanolone potentiates GABAA receptor currents, but does not cause direct activation. However, at high concentrations, it can directly activate the receptor [81-82]. There are two different GABAA receptors: synaptic GABAA receptor and extrasynaptic GABAA receptor. Activation of these two receptors can cause phasic inhibition and tonic inhibition respectively. Allopregnanolone can modulate both synaptic and extrasynaptic GABAA receptors to potentiate phasic and tonic inhibition and has large effects on extrasynaptic  $\delta$ -subunit GABAA receptors [83-85]. The extrasynaptic GABAA receptors are distributed within the hippocampus, neocortex, thalamus, striatum, hypothalamus, and cerebellum [86]. Increasing of the biosynthesis of allopregnanolone can be used to treat posttraumatic stress disorder, anxiety and depression [87]. Down-regulation of allopregnanolone biosynthesis in the midbrain is responsible for anxiety, aggression and reduced reproductive behavior in socially isolated mice [88].

Mice treated with allopregnanolone subcutaneously for 24 hours showed an increased PXR mRNA level in hypothalamus and thalamus in the brain [89]. Female mice infused of PXR antisense oligonucleotides (AS-ODNS) to the ventral tegmental area significantly suppressed estradiol-enhanced reproductive behavior [90], demonstrating an important role of PXR in regulating reproductive behavior in the mice. Frye et al found that knocking down of PXR by AS-ODNS in the midbrain significantly reduced allopregnanolone levels in the midbrain and hippocampus, suggesting that PXR may be involved in the formation of allopregnanolone in the brain [91-92].

Allopregnanolone is synthesized from progesterone by cortical and hippocampus pyramidal neurons and pyramidal-like neurons of the basolateral amygdala in the brain [93]. Progesterone is reduced by  $5\alpha$ -reductase to form  $5\alpha$ -dihydroprogesterone, which can later be converted to allopregnanolone by  $3\alpha$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase ( $3\alpha$ -HSD).  $5\alpha$ -reductase is the rate-limiting enzyme in this synthesis process. The family of  $5\alpha$ -reductases contains three isoenzymes:  $5\alpha$ -reductase type 1 (SRD5 $\alpha$ 1),  $5\alpha$ -reductase type 2 (SRD5 $\alpha$ 2) and  $5\alpha$ -reductase type 3 (SRD5 $\alpha$ 3). To date, SRD5 $\alpha$ 1 and SRD5 $\alpha$ 2 are present in all species examined and well characterized [94]. However, knowledge of SRD5 $\alpha$ 3 enzymatic activity is limited and its natural steroid substrates are largely unknown. Recently, SRD5 $\alpha$ 3 has been found lacking steroid  $5\alpha$ reductase activity and cannot reduce progesterone to  $5\alpha$ -dihydroprogesterone in either human or hamster [95]. Thus, the reduction of progesterone is mainly regulated by SRD5 $\alpha$ 1 and SRD5 $\alpha$ 2. Here we hypothesized that PXR may regulate allopregnanolone levels through regulating  $Srd5\alpha 1$ and  $Srd5\alpha 2$  gene expression in brain.

#### Materials and methods

#### **Drug preparation**

Pregnenolone  $16\alpha$ -carbonitrile (PCN) (Sigma) was dissolved in corn oil (Sigma) and the final concentration is 40 mg/ml. The drug was stored at 4 °C, and vigorously shake or vortex before use.

#### Animal treatment administration

WT and PXR-KO male mice (6-week old) were divided into 4 groups, named as WT Vehicle, WT PCN, PXR-knock out (PXR-KO) Vehicle and PXR-KO PCN. Each group has 6 mice. Mice were administered vehicle (corn oil 0.11 cc/10g) or PCN (PCN 40 mg/ml, 0.11 cc/10g) via intraperitoneal injection for consecutive three days. On day four, mice were euthanized and liver as well as seven brain regions (hypothalamus, amygdala, prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, striatum, mid brain and cerebellum) were isolated and frozen in -80°C.

#### **RNA** isolation

We combined two mice together for a total of three samples for each brain region. Tissues were dissolved in 300  $\mu$ l (for brain) or 500  $\mu$ l (for liver) TRIZOL (Invitrogen) respectively and homogenized. After centrifuging at 4 °C at 20817 x g for 10 min, the supernatant was carefully transferred into a new tube and 180  $\mu$ L chloroform was add into each tube. After shaking vigorously, sample was centrifuged at 4 °C at 20817 x g for 15 min. Then the upper aqueous phase of each sample was carefully collected and an equitable amount of isopropanol (around 100  $\mu$ l) was added to each sample. After centrifugation, the pellet was washed by 70% ethanol twice. The tubes were then placed in a 37°C incubator for 5 - 10 minutes
to dry. Then the RNA was dissolved in  $20\mu$ L ddH<sub>2</sub>O via pipetting. The absorbance value at 260nm was used to quantify RNA.

## 1 % RNA agarose gel

1% RNA agarose gel electrophoresis was performed to assess the integrity of RNA. Agarose (0.6g) was added into 48 mL ddH<sub>2</sub>O and microwaved for 1 min until the agarose was fully dissolved. 37% formaldehyde (6 mL) and 6 mL 10X MOPS (20 mM EDTA, 200 mM MOPS, 50 mM Sodium acetate, pH = 7.0) were added into solutions and mixed thoroughly. Gel solution was poured and stabilized in gel electrophoresis set for at least 30 min.

Each sample contains 6.5  $\mu$ l ddH<sub>2</sub>O, 2.5  $\mu$ l 4x RNA loading buffer (50% glycerol, 1mM EDTA, 0.4% bromophenol blue, 1mg/ml ethidium bromide) and around 1  $\mu$ g RNA. Samples were heated in 60 °C for 5 min before loading. Electrophoresis was performed in 90V for 60 min, and 2X MOPS (4 mM EDTA, 40 mM MOPS, 10 mM Sodium acetate, pH = 7.0) was used as running buffer.

## **Reverse Transcription**

1 μg of RNA was reversed-transcribed by using random primers following the manufacturer's instruction (Promega). Samples were first incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Then samples were heated at 42°C for 60 minutes and followed by heating at 95°C for 5 minutes. The final products were stored at 4°C for later use.

## **Polymerase chain reaction**

Equal amounts of cDNA were used in polymerase chain reactions (PCR). Reactions contained 300 nM primers specific for mouse PXR (**Table** 3). The PCR assay was performed as previously described [96].

# Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction was performed as previously described [97]. Briefly, reactions contained 1X SYBR green (Lonza Rockland, Inc., Rockland, ME) and 300 nM primers specific for  $\beta$ -actin, Cyp3a11, Oatp2, Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 (Table 3) respectively. Each sample was analyzed in triplicate. The mRNA levels of Cyp3a11, Oatp2, Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 were normalized to a housekeeping gene  $\beta$ -actin using the formula as following:  $\Delta$ CT (test gene) = CT (test gene) - CT ( $\beta$ -actin). Then  $\Delta\Delta$ CT of each gene was used to represent the relative mRNA induction levels using the formula as following:  $\Delta\Delta$ CT (test gene) =  $\Delta$ CT (test gene) -  $\Delta$ CT (test gene in WT Veh group). For Cyp3a11 and Oatp2, the fold changes of gene expression were represented by the value of 2-  $\Delta\Delta$ CT (test gene). For Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2, the percentage changes of gene expression were represented by the value of 100\*2-  $\Delta\Delta$ CT (test gene) (%).

# 8% DNA polyacrylamide gel

8% DNA polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis [98] was performed to visualize PXR amplification as well as detect  $Srd5\alpha 1$  and  $Srd5\alpha 2$  primer sets (**Table** 3) specificity. Each sample contained 9 µl of PCR or quantitative real-time PCR products and 1 µl of 10X DNA loading buffer [98]. Electrophoresis was performed in 120V for 80 min. Then gel was stained in ethidium bromide (EB) for at least 20 min followed by visualization of the amplification bands under UV light.

# Data analysis and statistics

All quantitative real-time RT- PCR data were analyzed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using a statistical program (GraphPad Prism, version 6.02) followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons post-hoc test. A p value of < 0.05 was considered significant. The data are

presented as mean of fold change  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) for Cyp3all and Oatp2 in liver. For Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2, the data are presented as mean of percent change  $\pm$  SEM.

# Results

## PXR mRNA level in wild type mice brain

We examined RNA integrity using 1% RNA agarose gel, which showed high quality of RNA (**Figure 6A**). Then RT-PCR was performed and PXR mRNA expression was detected in 8% DNA polyacrylamide gel. Using liver and PXR plasmid (pCMV-tag2B-mPXR-fl) as positive controls and ddH<sub>2</sub>O as negative control, we detected PXR mRNA in all seven brain regions (**Figure 6B**). This result indicates that PXR is expressed in seven brain regions in mRNA level.

# The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Cyp3all, Oatp2, Srd5α1 and Srd5α2 expression in liver

We used PCN, a well-known selective mouse PXR ligand, to activate PXR in mice to see if PXR activation has any effects on  $Srd5\alpha 1$  and  $Srd5\alpha 2$  gene expression in the liver and brain. WT and PXR-KO mice were treated with either corn oil or PCN daily for three days. On day four, mice were sacrificed and the liver and different brain regions were dissected and RNA was isolated. First, we looked at RNA integrity of total 48 samples. Our result showed high quality of RNA (**Figure 7**).

Using quantitative real-time RT-PCR assay, we detected two prototypical PXR target genes, Cyp3a11 and Oatp2, in the liver. As expected, we found that the treatment of PCN dramatically increased Cyp3all (**Figure** 8A) and Oatp2 (**Figure** 8B) gene expression in the liver in WT, and this effect was totally abolished in PXR-KO group. These data showed that PCN can increase Cyp3a11 and Oatp2 gene expression in the liver in a PXR-dependent manner, and are consistent with previous studies [99].

Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 primer sets were also validated, as shown in **Figure 8C-D**. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 was performed in WT mice in the hypothalamus and liver, and 8% DNA polyacrylamide gel was used to visualize amplification of the result. Our result showed high specificity of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 primer sets.

We then detected  $\operatorname{Srd5a1}$  and  $\operatorname{Srd5a2}$  gene expression in the liver. Our results showed that deletion of PXR altered  $\operatorname{Srd5a1}$  basal level in liver, and PCN treatment decreased  $\operatorname{Srd5a1}$ expression in both WT and PXR-KO group (**Figure** 8E). Treatment of PCN reduced  $\operatorname{Srd5a2}$ gene expression level in the PXR-KO group but not in the WT group, and the deletion of PXR also altered  $\operatorname{Srd5a2}$  basal level (**Figure** 8F). These data suggests that  $\operatorname{Srd5a1}$  and  $\operatorname{Srd5a2}$  are not PXR target genes in the liver and PCN-induced decrease of  $\operatorname{Srd5a1}$  and  $\operatorname{Srd5a2}$  gene expression is in a PXR-independent manner.

The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 expression in brain

The quantitative real-time RT-PCR assays were performed in seven brain regions: hypothalamus, amygdala, PFC, hippocampus, striatum, mid brain and cerebellum. As shown in **Figure 9A-G**, no significant change of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 gene expression was seen with the activation or deletion of PXR in the seven brain regions. Thus, Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 gene expression is not regulated by PXR in the seven brain regions.

We found that activation or deletion of PXR didn't cause any significant change in Srd5α2 expression in the amygdala (**Figure** 10B), PFC (**Figure** 10C), hippocampus (**Figure** 10 D), striatum (**Figure** 10E), or mid brain (**Figure** 10F). In the hypothalamus, deletion of PXR altered the Srd5α2 gene basal level, however the activation of PXR did not cause any significant change (**Figure** 10A). In the cerebellum, treatment of PCN in PXR-KO mice dramatically increased Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 gene expression in comparison with the PXR-KO vehicle group (**Figure** 10 G).

In summary, our data showed that 1) PXR mRNA is expressed in the hypothalamus, amygdala, PFC, hippocampus, striatum, mid brain and cerebellum in the mouse; 2) knockout of PXR increased Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 basal level in the liver, and the treatment of PCN decreased Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 mRNA level in both wild type and PXR-KO group in the liver, However, there is no significant change of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 in the brain in these groups; 3) knockout of PXR increased Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 basal level in both the liver and hypothalamus. The treatment of PCN decreased Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 expression in PXR-KO in liver, on the contrary, increased Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 expression in PXR-KO group in cerebellum.

# Discussion

Our study showed for the first time that PXR was expressed in seven brain regions at a low mRNA level. However, we didn't look at the protein levels of PXR in these brain regions. In the future studies, immunohistochemistry can be used to determine PXR protein expressions in these brain region tissues.

Previous studies showed that knocking down of PXR decreased allopregnanolone level in the midbrain and hippocampus. However, from our results, we found that deletion of PXR can alter the basal levels of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 in the liver, and the basal Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 in the hypothalamus. Thus, Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 are not PXR target genes in either the liver or brain and other mechanisms should be responsible for PXR knockdown-induced decrease of allopregnanolone level. As discussed previously, two major enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of allopregnanolone from progesterone are 5 $\alpha$ -reductase and 3 $\alpha$ -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 $\alpha$ -HSD). Previously study found that activation of PXR by rifampic in in human PXR-transgenic mice can significantly increase the expression of 3 $\beta$ -HSD, another member of hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase enzymes, in the adrenal glands [100]. Therefore, it is possible that PXR can regulate  $3\alpha$ -HSD expression in the brain to regulate allopregnanolone levels. Future studies should commence with testing this hypothesis.

According to our results, PXR activation or deletion did not have any effects on Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 expression in seven brain regions. Interestingly, treatment of PCN, a prototypical mouse PXR ligand, led to reduced Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 gene expression in both WT and PXR-KO groups in the liver. These two different results from the brain and the liver suggest that 1) Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 is not a PXR target gene in the brain and 2) PCN-induced decrease of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 in the liver is carried out in a PXR-independent manner. We hypothesized that PCN may have some feedback suppression effects on Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2, which could explain PCN-induced decrease of Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 in the liver. It is known that PCN is a synthesized steroid and shares the same core structure with allopregnanolone (**Figure** 11). As discussed previously, Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 are rate-limiting enzymes of the allopregnanolone synthesis process. Thus, it is possible that allopregnanolone and PCN is responsible for some feedback suppression on Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 expression.

Surprisingly, in PXR-KO group, PCN treatment in the cerebellum significantly increased Srd5α2 gene expression compared with the vehicle-treated group, indicating other mechanisms may be involved in this phenomenon. For decades, PCN has been considered as a selective mouse PXR ligand. However, recently, PCN was found to have immunosuppressive activity independent of PXR activation in mouse liver [101]. Although the mechanism underlying this phenomenon is unknown, it is noteworthy that other nuclear receptors such as Glucocorticoid receptor (GR), liver X receptor (LXR), Farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and Constitutive androstane receptor (CAR) are also involved in the liver immune system. Thus, PCN might interact with

other nuclear receptors to suppress immune activity. Among many NRs, thyroid hormone receptor alpha (THRA), thyroid hormone receptor beta (THRB), and LXRs were found to be highly expressed in the cerebellum [102]. LXRs are master regulators of cholesterol homeostasis in the brain [103], and progesterone can be synthesized from cholesterol. Therefore, it is possible that other nuclear receptor, such as LXR, may interact with PCN to regulate Srd5α2 gene expression in the cerebellum. Further studies are necessary to test this possibility. Due to the fact that some of the quantitative real-time RT-PCR data have large error bars, it is hard to draw reliable conclusions from these data. Therefore, in the feature study the same experiments need to be performed again with a large sample size in order to get more reliable results and conclusions.

es.
25

Srd5a1	Left primer: 5' gAg TTg gAT gAg TTg CgC CTA 3'
	Right primer: 5' ggA CCA CTg CgA ggA gTA g 3'
Srd5a2	Left primer: 5' gAT CCT gTg CTT Tgg gAA ACC 3'
	Right primer: 5' gCA TCC CTA CCg ACA CCA C 3'
Cyp3a11	Left primer: 5' CAA ggA gAT gTT CCC TgT CA 3'
	Right primer: 5' CCA CgT TCA CTC CAA ATg AT 3'
PXR	Left primer: 5' gAT ggA ggT CTT CAA ATC TgC C 3'
	Right primer: 5' ggC CCT TCT gAA AAA CCC CT 3'
Oatp2	Left primer: 5' TTg CTg ACT gCA ACA CAA Ag 3'
	Right primer: 5' Tgg TTC CAg TTC CAA CAg AC 3'
β-actin	Left primer: 5' CAA gAT CAT TgC TCC TCC Tg 3'
	Right primer: 5' TAA CAg TCC gCC TAg AAg CA 3'







**Figure 6. PXR mRNA level in wild type mice brain.** Wild type male mice were sacrificed and seven brain regions as well as liver were isolated. RNA was extracted and RT-PCR was performed. (**A**) 1% RNA agarose gel electrophoresis was performed with RNA isolated from brain regions and liver. (**B**) 8% DNA polyacrylamide gel was used to visualize amplification products from RT-PCR.

Figure 7



Figure 7. RNA integrity of brain regions and liver samples. Mice were treated with PCN or corn oil as control respectively. RNA were extracted and examined in 1% RNA agarose gel. (A):

liver, (**B**): hypothalamus, (**C**): amygdala, (**D**): PFC, (**E**): hippocampus, (**F**): striatum, (**G**): mid brain, and (**H**) cerebellum. 1-3: WT Veh; 4-6: WT PCN; 7-9: PXR-KO Veh; 10-12: PXR-KO PCN.





**Figure 8.** The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Cyp3all, Oatp2, Srd5α1 and Srd5α2 expression in liver. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR was performed in liver samples. (A) Cyp3all gene expression in liver. Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion:

F(1,8)=9.075, p=0.0167, a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1,8)=14.92, p=0.0048 and a significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1,8)=13.9, p=0.0058. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates treatment of PCN in WT significantly increased Cyp3all level (\*\*p<0.005) and treatment of PCN in KO significantly decreased Cyp3all compared with WT ( $^{\#}p<0.05$ ). n=3 (**B**) Oatp2 gene expression in liver. Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1,8)=96.32, p<0.0001, a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1,8)=83.18, p<0.0001 and a significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1,8)=76.11, p<0.0001. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates treatment of PCN in WT significantly increased Oatp2 level (\*\*\*\*p<0.0001) and treatment of PCN in KO significantly decreased Oatp2 compared with WT (####p<0.0001). n=3 (C) Validation of Srd5a1 primer set. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR was performed in wild type mouse hypothalamus and liver. Amplification size: 123bp. (D) Validation of Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 primer set. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR was performed in wild type mouse hypothalamus and liver. Amplification size: 134bp. (E) Srd5al gene expression in liver. Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 168.1, P<0.0001, a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) = 46.72, P=0.0001 and interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.5, P=0.4996. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates knockout of PXR significantly increased basal level of Srd5a1 (####p<0.0001) and treatment of PCN significantly decreased Srd5 $\alpha$ 1 gene expression in both WT (\*p<0.05) and PXR-KO  $(^{\&\&}p<0.005)$ . n=3 (F) Srd5a2 gene expression in liver. Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 58.23, P<0.0001 a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F (1, 8) = 42.89, P=0.0002 and a significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 38.3, P=0.0003. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates

deletion of PXR significantly increased basal level of Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 (<sup>####</sup>p<0.0001) and compared with Veh, treatment of PCN significantly decreased Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 gene expression in PXR-KO (<sup>&&&&</sup>p<0.0001). n=3





Figure 9. The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Srd5a1 gene expression in brain. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR was performed in seven brain regions as described previously. (A) hippocampus Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1,8)=2.455, p=0.1558, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1,8)=0.1212, p=0.7367 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1,8)=1.939, p=0.2012. n=3 (B) amygdala Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1,8)=4.024, P=0.0798, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1,8)=0.5952, P=0.4626 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.02381, P=0.8812. n=3 (C) PFC Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F (1, 8) = 1.354, P=0.2780, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F (1, 8) = 0.7619, P=0.4082 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.3386, P=0.5767. n=3 (D) hippocampus Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.01404, P=0.9086, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) =0.07644, P=0.7892 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) =0.01404, P=0.9086. n=3 (E) striatum Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.18, P=0.6826, a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) =5.78, P=0.0429 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) =1.62, P=0.2388. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test shows no significance. n=3 (F) mid brain Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 6, P=0.0400, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) = 0.1667, P=0.6938 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.6667, P=0.4379. Post

hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test shows no significance. n=3 (G) cerebellum Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.1088, P=0.7499, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) = 0.6803, P=0.4334 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 0.02721, P=0.8731. n=3



Figure 10. The effects of PXR activation and deletion on Srd5a2 gene expression in brain. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR was performed in seven brain regions as described previously. (A) hippocampus Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) =10.95, P=0.0107, a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) = 5.313, P=0.0501 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 2.438, P=0.1570. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates deletion of PXR significantly increased Srd5a2 basal level ( $^{\#}p<0.05$ ). n=3 (**B**) amygdala Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 2.841, P=0.1304, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8)= 1.885, P=0.2070 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) =1.288, P=0.2892. n=3 (C) PFC Two-way ANOVA shows no significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 1.354, P=0.2780, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) =0.7619, P=0.4082 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) =0.3386, P=0.5767. n=3 (D) hippocampus Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 10.01, P=0.0133, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8)= 0.002274, P=0.9631 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F (1, 8 = 0.006318, P=0.9386. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates no significance. n=3 (E) striatum Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 7.129, P=0.0284, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) =1.191, P=0.3068 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) =2.653, P=0.1420. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates no significance. n=3 (F) mid brain Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) =6.32, P=0.0361, no significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) = 1.235, P=0.2988 and no significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 1.024, P=0.3413. Post hoc

by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates no significance. n=3 (G) cerebellum Two-way ANOVA shows a significant main effect of gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 14.97, P=0.0047, a significant main effect of treatment (PCN): F(1, 8) = 7.834, P=0.0232 and a significant interaction between treatment and gene deletion: F(1, 8) = 10.22, P=0.0127. Post hoc by Tukey's multiple comparisons test indicates treatment of PCN significantly increased Srd5a2 gene expression in PXR-KO compared with Veh ((<sup>#</sup>p<0.05). n=3)





Figure 11. Structures of (A) PCN and (B) allopregnanolone

## **CHAPTER 4: DISSCUSSION**

Previous studies have reported that PXR showed tissue-specific functions in terms of regulating its target genes. Activation of PXR can significantly increase MDR1 gene expression as well as protein level in the intestine. However, PXR activation didn't cause any change of MDR1 gene expression in the liver. Recently, PXR was also found to express in the brain in different species, and showed brain-specific functions. PXR is involved in the regulation of neurosteroid levels and therefore involved in the pathology of different neurodegenerative diseases and mental disorders. Although the precise mechanism of PXR performing tissue-specific functions is currently unknown, it is notable that PXR function as a transcription factor through binding to co-regulatory proteins and form a complex to initiate a transcription process. To date, different co-activators and co-repressors of PXR have been discovered. Thus we hypothesized that tissue-specific co-regulatory proteins may lead to tissue-specific PXR functions.

In the present study, I mainly focused on two parallel projects. In my first project, I used a novel method to identify PXR co-regulatory proteins in the liver. PXR protein were overexpressed in primary cultured rat hepatocytes using adenoviral infection assay, coupled with immobilized metal affinity chromatography assay in native condition to enrich PXR and its binding proteins. LC-MS/MS assay was used to identify protein peptides. Besides a well- known PXR binding partner RXRα, several potential binding partners were also identified, including prohibitin 1, prohibitin 2, Ring finger protein 2, zinc finger protein and different TATA box binding protein (TBP)-associated factors. In this study, I designed and validated buffer conditions that are specific for IMAC in non-denaturing conditions, which can be used in the future for studying protein-protein interactions. This study provides a new basis for identifying PXR-binding partners in primary cells.

In future studies, co-immunoprecipitation should be used to further confirm the interaction between PXR and different potential binding partners. Additionally, in order to explain PXR tissue-specific functions, the LC-MS/MS experiment can be performed in primary cells isolated from other tissue types such as primary cultured enterocytes or neuronal cells. Then by comparing with the result we generated from the liver, tissue-specific binding partners might also be identified. Ligand-dependent PXR co-regulatory proteins can also be identified by adding PXR ligands in this assay. Moreover, PXR co-regulatory proteins that can respond to inflammation can also be identified using stimulated primary cultured cells under stress condition.

While the first project identified PXR binding partners in the rat liver, my second project characterized PXR function in the brain, and specifically, the effects of PXR on Srd5 $\alpha$ l and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 gene expression in different brain regions. In this study, WT and PXR-KO mice were treated with either corn oil as vehicle control, or PCN daily for consecutive three days. On day 4, mice were euthanized and the liver and brain regions were isolated. RT-PCR and quantitative real-time RT-PCR were performed with RNA isolated from these samples respectively. My results showed that Cyp3all and Oatp2 expression increased dramatically upon PXR activation, and PCN regulates Cyp3all and Oatp2 in a PXR-dependent manner, which is consistent with the results previously generated from our lab [104]. Our studies have demonstrated for the first time that 1) PXR is expressed in mRNA level in the hypothalamus, amygdala, PFC, hippocampus, striatum, midbrain and cerebellum in the mouse brain. 2) Srd5 $\alpha$ l and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2 are not PXR target genes in either liver or brain in the mouse and PCN-mediated decrease of Srd5 $\alpha$ l and Srd5 $\alpha$ 2

gene expression in the liver is likely through other mechanisms. 3) PCN can induce an increase of  $Srd5\alpha 2$  gene expression in the cerebellum. Although the mechanism underlying this phenomenon is unknown, we hypothesized that other nuclear receptors such as LXR may be involved in this regulation process.

In the future, the role of PXR in terms of regulating  $3\alpha$ -HSD gene expression in the brain can be investigated to further explain the mechanism of knocking down PXR-mediated decrease of allopregnanolone level in the midbrain and hippocampus. In addition, the role of LXR in this process should also be investigated.

While in the first project, we mainly focused on the PXR binding partners in the liver, our second project focused on studying the PXR function in the brain. Our two projects characterized PXR biology across different tissues and through different methods, thus, providing scientists with a further basis to study PXR.

## REFERENCES

- Hariparsad N, Chu X, Yabut J, Labhart P, Hartley DP, Dai X, Evers R. Identification of pregnane-X receptor target genes and coactivator and corepressor binding to promoter elements in human hepatocytes. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009; 37(4):1160-73.
- Kliewer S. A., Moore J.T., Wade L., Staudinger J.L., Waston M.A., Jones S.A., McKee D.D., Oliver B.B., Willson T.M., Zetterstrom R.H., Perlmann T., Lehmann J.M., An orphan nuclear receptor activated by pregnanes defines a novel steroid signaling pathway. Cell. 1998. 92:73-82.
- Luckert C, Ehlers A, Buhrke T, Seidel A, Lampen A, Hessel S. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons stimulate human CYP3A4 promoter activity via PXR. Toxicol Lett. 2013. 222(2):180-8.
- 4. Muangmoonchai R., Smirlis D., Wong S.C., Edwards M., Phillips I.R., Shephard E.A. Xenobiotic induction of cytochrome P450 2B1 (CYP2B1) is mediated by the orphan nuclear receptor constitutive androstane receptor (CAR) and requires steroid coactivator 1 (SRC-1) and the transcription factor Sp1. Biochem J. 2001. 355:71-78.
- Takeshita A., Taguchi M., Koibuchi N., Ozawa Y. Putative role of the orphan nuclear receptor SXR (steroid and xenobiotic receptor) in the mechanism of CYP3A4 inhibition by xenobiotics. J Biol Chem. 2002. 277:32453-32458.
- Watkins RE, Davis-Searles PR, Lambert MH, Redinbo MR. Coactivator binding promotes the specific interaction between ligand and the pregnane X receptor. J Mol Biol. 2003. 331:815-828.
- Xie W, Radominska-Pandya A, Shi Y, Simon CM, Nelson MC, Ong ES, Waxman DJ, Evans RM. An essential role for nuclear receptors SXR/PXR in detoxification of cholestatic bile acids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2001. 98:3375-3380.
- Dussault I, Lin M, Hollister K, Wang EH, Synold TW, Forman BM. Peptide mimetic HIV protease inhibitors are ligands for the orphan receptor SXR. J Biol Chem. 2001. 276:33309-33312.
- Dussault I, Yoo HD, Lin M, Wang E, Fan M, Batta AK, Salen G, Erickson SK, Forman BM. Identification of an endogenous ligand that activates pregnane X receptor-mediated sterol clearance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003. 100:833-838.

- 10. Goodwin B, Gauthier KC, Umetani M, Watson MA, Lochansky MI, Collins JL, Leitersdorf E, Mangelsdorf DJ, Kliewer SA, Repa JJ. Identification of bile acid precursors as endogenous ligands for the nuclear xenobiotic pregnane X receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003. 100:223-228.
- 11. Xie W, Yeuh MF, Radominska-Pandya A, Saini SP, Negishi Y, Bottroff BS, Cabrera GY, Tukey RH, Evans RM. Control of steroid, heme, and carcinogen metabolism by nuclear pregnane X receptor and constitutive androstane receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003. 100:4150-4155.
- 12. de Wildt SN, Kearns GL, Leeder JS, van den Anker JN. Cytochrome P450 3A: ontogeny and drug disposition. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1999. 37:485–505.
- Zhou C, King N, Chen KY, and Breslow JL. Activation of PXR induces hypercholesterolemia in wild-type and accelerates atherosclerosis in apoE deficient mice. J Lipid Res. 2009. 50:2004–2013.
- Helsley RN, Sui Y, Ai N, Park SH, Welsh WJ, Zhou C. Pregnane X receptor mediates dyslipidemia induced by the HIV protease inhibitor amprenavir in mice. Mol Pharmacol. 2013. 83(6):1190-9.
- 15. Shah, Y., X. Ma, K. Morimura, I. Kim, and F. J. Gonzalez. Pregnane X receptor activation ameliorates DSS-induced inflammatory bowel disease via inhibition of NFkaB target gene expression. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 2006. 292: G1114–G1122.
- 16. Gu, X., S. Ke, D. Liu, T. Sheng, P. E. Thomas, A. B. Rabson, M. A. Gallo, W. Xie, and Y. Tian. Role of NF-kB in regulation of PXR-mediated gene expression: a mechanism for the suppression of cytochrome P-450 3A4 by proinflammatory agents. J. Biol. Chem. 2006. 281: 17882–17889.
- 17. S. Dubrac, A. Elentner, S. Ebner, J. Horejs-Hoeck, M. Schmuth, Modulation of T lymphocyte function by the pregnane X receptor, J. Immunol. 2010. 184:2949–2957.
- Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell. 2010; 140:883–899.
- Grivennikov SI. Inflammation and colorectal cancer: colitis-associated neoplasia. Semin Immunopathol. 2013; 35:229–244.

- 20. Wang H, Venkatesh M, Li H, Goetz R, Mukherjee S, Biswas A, Zhu L, Kaubisch A, Wang L, Pullman J, Whitney K, Kuro-o M, Roig AI, Shay JW, Mohammadi M, Mani S. Pregnane X receptor activation induces FGF19-dependent tumor aggressiveness in humans and mice. J Clin Invest. 2011; 121(8):3220-32.
- Zhou J, Liu M, Zhai Y, Xie W. The antiapoptotic role of pregnane X receptor in human colon cancer cells. Mol Endocrinol. 2008; 22(4):868-80.
- 22. Zucchini N, de Sousa G, Bailly-Maitre B, Gugenheim J, Bars R, Lemaire G, Rahmani R. Regulation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL anti-apoptotic protein expression by nuclear receptor PXR in primary cultures of human and rat hepatocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005; 1745(1):48-58.
- 23. Masuyama H, Nakatsukasa H, Takamoto N, Hiramatsu Y: Down-regulation of pregnane X receptor contributes to cell growth inhibition and apoptosis by anticancer agents in endometrial cancer cells. Mol Pharmacol 2007; 72:1045–1053.
- 24. Verma S, Tabb MM, Blumberg B: Activation of the steroid and xenobiotic receptor, SXR, induces apoptosis in breast cancer cells. BMC Cancer 2009, 9:3.
- 25. Jiang H, Chen K, He J, Pan F, Li J, Chen J, Chen W and Liang H: Association of pregnane X receptor with multidrug resistance-related protein 3 and its role in human colon cancer chemoresistance. J Gastrointest Surg 2009.13: 1831-1838.
- 26. Chen Y, Tang Y, Wang MT, Zeng S and Nie D: Human pregnane X receptor and resistance to chemotherapy in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2007. 67: 10361-10367.
- Cull EH, Altman JK. Contemporary treatment of APL. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2014. 9(2):193-201.
- 28. Wang T, Ma X, Krausz KW, Idle JR and Gonzalez FJ: Role of pregnane X receptor in control of all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) metabolism and its potential contribution to ATRA resistance. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2008. 324: 674-684.
- Jain S, Rathod V, Prajapati R, Nandekar PP, Sangamwar AT. Pregnane X Receptor and P-glycoprotein: a connexion for Alzheimer's disease management. Mol Divers. 2014. 18:895–909.
- 30. Langmade SJ, Gale SE, Frolov A, Mohri I, Suzuki K, Mellon SH, Walkley SU, Covey DF, Schaffer JE, Ory DS. Pregnane X receptor (PXR) activation: a mechanism for

neuroprotection in a mouse model of Niemann-Pick C disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2006. 103(37):13807-12.

- Frye CA, Paris JJ, Walf AA, Rusconi JC. Effects and Mechanisms of 3α,5α,-THP on Emotion, Motivation, and Reward Functions Involving Pregnane Xenobiotic Receptor. Front Neurosci. 2012; 5:136.
- Doricakova A, Vrzal R. A food contaminant ochratoxin A suppresses pregnane X receptor (PXR)-mediated CYP3A4 induction in primary cultures of human hepatocytes Toxicology. 2015. 337:72-8.
- 33. Staudinger JL, Goodwin B, Jones SA, Hawkins-Brown D, MacKenzie KI, LaTour A, Liu Y, Klaassen CD, Brown KK, Reinhard J, Willson TM, Koller BH, Kliewer SA. The nuclear receptor PXR is a lithocholic acid sensor that protects against liver toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001. 13;98(6):3369-74.
- Staudinger JL, Ding X, Lichti K. Pregnane X receptor and natural products: beyond drugdrug interactions. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2006. 2:847-857.
- 35. Chai X, Zeng S, Xie W. Nuclear receptors PXR and CAR: implications for drug metabolism regulation, pharmacogenomics and beyond. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2013. 9:253-66.
- Kullak-Ublick GA, Becker MB. Regulation of drug and bile salt transporters in liver and intertine. Drug metabolism. 2003. 35(4):305-17.
- 37. Drocourt L, Pascussi JM, Assenat E, Fabre JM, Maurel P, Vilarem MJ. Calcium channel modulators of the dihydropyridine family are human pregnane X receptor activators and inducers of CYP3A, CYP2B, and CYP2C in human hepatocytes. Drug Metab Dispos. 2001. 29(10):1325-
- Chirulli V, Longo V, Marini S, Mazzaccaro A, Fiorio R, Gervasi PG. CAR and PXR expression and inducibility of CYP2B and CYP3A activities in rat and rabbit lungs. Life Sci. 2005. 76(22):2535-46.
- 39. Pondugula SR, Flannery PC, Abbott KL, Coleman ES, Mani S, Samuel T, Xie W. Diindolylmethane, a naturally occurring compound, induces CYP3A4 and MDR1 gene expression by activating human PXR. Toxicol Lett. 2015. 232(3):580-9.

- 40. Wolbold R, Klein K, Burk O, Nüssler AK, Neuhaus P, Eichelbaum M, Schwab M, Zanger UM. Sex is a major determinant of CYP3A4 expression in human liver. Hepatology. 2007. 38(4):978-88.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016. 66(1):7-30.
- 42. Bates SE, Regis JI, Robey RW, Zhan Z, Scala S, Meadows BJ. Chemoresistance in the clinic: overview 1994. Bull Cancer. 1994; 81 (Suppl 2):55s–61s.
- 43. Leonessa F, Clarke R. ATP binding cassette transporters and drug resistance in breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2003; 10:43–73.
- 44. I.P. Huang, S.P. Sun, S.H. Cheng, C.H. Lee, C.Y. Wu, C.S. Yang, L.W. Lo, Y.K. Lai, Enhanced chemotherapy of cancer using pH-sensitive mesoporous silica nanoparticles to antagonize P-glycoprotein-mediated drug resistance, Mol. Cancer Ther. 10 (2011) 761– 769.
- 45. Vadlapatla RK, Vadlapudi AD, Pal D, Mitra AK. Mechanisms of drug resistance in cancer chemotherapy: coordinated role and regulation of efflux transporters and metabolizing enzymes. Curr Pharm Des. 2013. 19(40):7126-40.
- 46. Gillet, J. P, and Gottesman, M.M. Advances in themolecular detection of ABC transporters involved in multidrug resistance in cancer. Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology. 2011.12:686–692.
- Sharom FJ. ABC multidrug transporters: structure, function and role in chemoresistance. Pharmacologenomics. 2008. 9: 105-27.
- 48. Daenen S, van der Holt B, Verhoef GE, Löwenberg B, Wijermans PW, Huijgens PC, van Marwijk Kooy R, Schouten HC, Kramer MH, Ferrant A, van den Berg E, Steijaert MM, Verdonck LF, and Sonneveld P. Addition of cyclosporin A to the combination of mitoxantrone and etoposide to overcome resistance to chemotherapy in refractory or relapsing acute myeloid leukaemia: a randomised phase II trial from HOVON, the Dutch-Belgian Haemato-Oncology Working Group for adults. Leuk Res. 2004. 28:1057–1067.
- 49. McDevitt, C. A., and Callaghan, R. How can we best use structural information on Pglycoprotein to design inhibitors? Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2007. 113:429–441.
- 50. Chico I, Kang MH, Bergan R, Abraham J, Bakke S, Meadows B, Rutt A, Robey R, Choyke P, Merino M, Goldspiel B, Smith T, Steinberg S, Figg WD, Fojo T, and Bates S.

Phase I study of infusional paclitaxel in combination with the P-glycoprotein antagonist PSC 833. J Clin Oncol. 2001. 19 (3):832–842.

- 51. Baer MR, George SL, Dodge RK, O'Loughlin KL, Minderman H, Caligiuri MA, Anastasi J, Powell BL, Kolitz JE, Schiffer CA, Bloomfield CD, and Larson RA. Phase 3 study of the multidrug resistance modulator PSC-833 in previously untreated patients 60 years of age and older with acute myeloid leukemia: Cancer and Leukemia Group B Study 9720. Blood. 2002. 100:1224–1232.
- Lee CH. Reversing agents for ATP-binding cassette drug transporters. Methods Mol Biol. 2010. 596:325-40.
- 53. Blumberg B, Sabbagh W Jr, Juguilon H, Bolado J Jr, van Meter CM, Ong ES, and Evans RM .SXR,a novel steroid and xenobiotic-sensing nuclear receptor. Genes Dev. 1998. 12, 3195–3205.
- 54. Albermann N, Schmitz-Winnenthal FH, Z'graggen K, Volk C, Hoffmann MM, Haefeli WE, Weiss J. Expression of the drug transporters MDR1/ABCB1, MRP1/ABCC1, MRP2/ABCC2, BCRP/ABCG2, and PXR in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and their relationship with the expression in intestine and liver. Biochem Pharmacol. 2005. 70(6):949-58.
- 55. Cui W, Sun M, Galeva N, Williams TD, Azuma Y, and Staudinger JL. SUMOylation and ubiquitylation circuitry controls Pregnane X Receptor biology in hepatocytes. Drug Metabolism and Disposition. 2015. 43(9):1316-1325.
- 56. He TC, Zhou S, da Costa LT, Yu J, Kinzler KW, and Vogelstein B. A simplified system for generating recombinant adenoviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1998. 95:2509–2514.
- 57. Cui W, Sun M, Galeva N, Williams TD, Azuma Y, Staudinger JL. SUMOylation and Ubiquitylation Circuitry Controls Pregnane X Receptor Biology in Hepatocytes. Drug Metab Dispos. 2015; 43(9):1316-25.
- Jennifer M. Kavran, and Daniel J. Leahy. Chapter fourteen silver staining of SDSpolyacrylamide gel. Methods in Enzymology. 2014. 541:169-176
- 59. Rankin CA, Galeva NA, Bae K, Ahmad MN, Witte TM, and Richter ML. Isolated RING2 domain of parkin is sufficient for E2-dependent E3 ligase activity. Biochemistry. 2014. 53(1):225-34.

- 60. Plutzky J. The PPAR-RXR transcriptional complex in the vasculature: energy in the balance. Circ Res. 2011;108(8):1002-16.
- Dawson MI, Xia Z. The retinoid X receptors and their ligands. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012; 1821(1):21-56.
- Lee TI, Young RA Transcription of eukaryotic protein-coding genes. nnu. Rev. Genet. 2000. 34: 77–137.
- 63. Schulman, I. G., D. Chakravarti, H. Juguilon, A. Romo, and R. M. Evans. 1995. Interactions between the retinoid X receptor and a conserved region of the TATA-binding protein mediate hormone-dependent transactivation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:8288–8292.
- 64. Schwerk, C., M. Klotzbucher, M. Sachs, V. Ulber, and L. Klein-Hitpass. 1995. Identification of a transactivation function in the progesterone receptor that interacts with the TAFII110 subunit of the TFIID complex. J. Biol. Chem. 270:21331–21338.
- 65. Mengus, G., M. May, L. Carre´, P. Chambon, and I. Davidson. 1997. Human TAFII135 potentiates transcriptional activation by the AF-2s of the retinoic acid, vitamin D3, and thyroid hormone receptors in mammalian cells. Genes Dev. 11:1381–1395.
- 66. Merkwirth C, Langer T. Prohibitin function within mitochondria: essential roles for cell proliferation and cristae morphogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2009. 1793(1):27-32.
- 67. Peng YT, Chen P, Ouyang RY, Song L. Multifaceted role of prohibitin in cell survival and apoptosis. Apoptosis. 2015. 20(9):1135-49.
- 68. Chigira T, Nagatoishi S, Tsumoto K. Differential binding of prohibitin-2 to estrogen receptor α and to drug-resistant ERα mutants. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015. 463(4):726-31.
- 69. Gamble SC, Chotai D, Odontiadis M, Dart DA, Brooke GN, Powell SM, Reebye V, Varela-Carver A, Kawano Y, Waxman J, Bevan CL. Prohibitin, a protein downregulated by androgens, represses androgen receptor activity. Oncogene. 2007. 26(12):1757-68.
- 70. Wang S, Nath N, Adlam M, Chellappan S. Prohibitin, a potential tumor suppressor, interacts with RB and regulates E2F function. Oncogene. 1999. 18: 3501–3510.
- Wang S, Fusaro G, Padmanabhan J, Chellappan SP. Prohibitin co-localizes with Rb in the nucleus and recruits N-CoR and HDAC1 for transcriptional repression. Oncogene. 2002. 21: 8388–8396.

- 72. Mehraein-Ghomi F, Basu HS, Church DR, Hoffmann FM, Wilding G. Androgen receptor requires JunD as a coactivator to switch on an oxidative stress generation pathway in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2010; 70(11):4560-8.
- 73. Bosch A, Panoutsopoulou K, Corominas JM, Gimeno R, Moreno-Bueno G, Martín-Caballero J, Morales S, Lobato T, Martínez-Romero C, Farias EF, Mayol X, Cano A, Hernández-Muñoz. The Polycomb group protein RING1B is overexpressed in ductal breast carcinoma and is required to sustain FAK steady state levels in breast cancer epithelial cells. Oncotarget. 2014. 5(8):2065-76.
- 74. Li XQ, He WP, Hou WH, Chen JW, Fan RR, Yuan LJ, Yang GP, Cai MY, Chen L, Li J, He SY, Xie D, Yang GF, You ZS. Overexpression of RNF2 is positively associated with ovarian carcinoma aggressiveness and indicative of poor patient survival. Oncotarget. 2016.
- 75. Chen S, Chen J, Zhan Q, Zhu Y, Chen H, Deng X, Hou Z, Shen B, Chen Y, Peng C. H2AK119Ub1 and H3K27Me3 in molecular staging for survival prediction of patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Oncotarget. 2014. 5(21):10421-33.
- 76. Bauer B, Hartz AM, Fricker G, Miller DS. Pregnane X receptor up-regulation of Pglycoprotein expression and transport function at the blood-brain barrier. Mol Pharmacol. 2004; 66:413-419.
- Frye CA. Novel substrates for, and sources of, progestogens for reproduction. J Neuroendocrinol. 2011; 23:961-973.
- 78. Lamba V, Yasuda K, Lamba JK, Assem M, Davila J, Strom S, Schuetz EG. PXR (NR1I2): splice variants in human tissues, including brain, and identification of neurosteroids and nicotine as PXR activators. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2004. 199(3):251-65.
- 79. Sandra Marinia, Annalisa Nannellia, Daria Sodinia, Stefania Dragonib, Massimo Valotib, Vincenzo Longoa, Pier Giovanni Gervasi. Expression, microsomal and mitochondrial activities of cytochrome P450 enzymes in brain regions from control and phenobarbitaltreated rabbits. Life Sciences. 2007. 80(10):910-7.
- 80. Mello SH, Gong W, Schonemann MD. Endogenous and synthetic neurosteroids in treatment of Niemann-Pick Type C disease. Brain Res Rev. 2008. 57:410-420.

- 81. Harrison, N. L., Majewska, M. D., Harrington, J. W., and Barker, J. L. Structure-activity relationships for steroid interactions with the γ-aminobutyric acidA receptor complex. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 1987. 241, 346–353.
- Reddy, D. S., and Rogawski, M. A. Stress-induced deoxycorticosterone-derived neuroactive steroids modulates GABA (A) receptor function and seizure susceptibility. J. Neurosci. 2002. 42, 3795–3805.
- Belelli, J.J. Lambert, Neurosteroids: endogenous regulators of the GABAA receptor, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2005. 6: 565–575.
- M. Farrant, Z. Nusser, Variations on an inhibitory theme: phasic and tonic activation of GABAA receptors, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2005. 6:215–229.
- 85. A. Semyanov, M.C. Walker, D.M. Kullmann, R.A. Silver, Tonically active GABAA receptors: modulating gain and maintaining the tone, Trends Neurosci. 2004. 27: 262– 269.
- Boodipala Samba Reddy. Role of hormones and neurosteroids in epileptogenesis. Front Cell Neurosci. 2013. 7:115.
- 87. Pinna G, Rasmusson AM. Up-regulation of neurosteroid biosynthesis as a pharmacological strategy to improve behavioural deficits in a putative mouse model of post-traumatic stress disorder. J Neuroendocrinol. 2012; 24(1):102-16.
- 88. Agís-Balboa RC, Pinna G, Pibiri F, Kadriu B, Costa E, Guidotti A. Down-regulation of neurosteroid biosynthesis in corticolimbic circuits mediates social isolation-induced behavior in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007; 104(47):18736-41.
- 89. Mellon SH, Gong W, Schonemann MD. Endogenous and synthetic neurosteroids in treatment of Niemann-Pick Type C disease. Brain Res Rev. 2008;57(2):410-20.
- 90. Frye CA, Koonce CJ, Walf AA. Role of pregnane xenobiotic receptor in the midbrain ventral tegmental area for estradiol- and 3α,5α-THP-facilitated lordosis of female rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2014;231(17):3365-74.
- 91. Frye CA, Koonce CJ, Walf AA, Rusconi JC. Motivated behaviors and levels of 3α,5α-THP in the midbrain are attenuated by knocking down expression of pregnane xenobiotic receptor in the midbrain ventral tegmental area of proestrous rats. J Sex Med. 2013; 10(7):1692-706.

- 92. Frye CA, Koonce CJ, Walf AA. Involvement of pregnane xenobiotic receptor in matinginduced allopregnanolone formation in the midbrain and hippocampus and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the hippocampus among female rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2014;231(17):3375-90.
- 93. Agís-Balboa, Roberto C.; Pinna, Graziano; Zhubi, Adrian; Maloku, Ekrem; Veldic, Marin; Costa, Erminio; Guidotti, Alessandro. Characterization of brain neurons that express enzymes mediating neurosteroid biosynthesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006. 103 (39): 14602–14607.
- Russell DW, Wilson JD. Steroid 5a-reductase: two genes/two enzymes. Ann Rev Biochem 1994; 63:25–61.
- 95. Chávez B, Ramos L, García-Becerra R, Vilchis F. Hamster SRD5A3 lacks steroid 5αreductase activity in vitro. Steroids. 2015. 94:41-50.
- 96. Bachman J. Reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR). Methods Enzymol. 2013; 530:67-74.
- 97. Gang Hu, Chenshu Xu, and Jeff L. Staudinger. Pregnane X receptor is SUMOylated to repress the inflammatory response. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2010. 335(2):342-50.
- 98. Weitao Cong, Mao Chen, Zhongxin Zhu, Zhiguo Liu, Jia Nan, Weijian Ye, Maowei Ni, Ting Zhao and Litai Jin. A shortcut organic dye-based staining method for the detection of DNA both in agarose and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Analyst. 2013;138(4):1187-94.
- Teng S, Piquette-Miller M. Hepatoprotective role of PXR activation and MRP3 in cholic acid-induced cholestasis. Br J Pharmacol. 2007; 151(3):367-76.
- Zhai Y, Pai HV, Zhou J, Amico JA, Vollmer RR, Xie W. Activation of pregnane X receptor disrupts glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid homeostasis. Mol Endocrinol. 2007; 21(1):138-47.
- 101. Kodama S, Shimura T, Kuribayashi H, Abe T, Yoshinari K. Pregnenolone 16αcarbonitrile ameliorates concanavalin A-induced liver injury in mice independent of the nuclear receptor PXR activation. 2017. 271:58-65.
- 102. Nishimura M, Naito S, Yokoi T. Tissue-specific mRNA expression profiles of human nuclear receptor subfamilies. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet. 2004. 19(2):135-49.
- Courtney R, Landreth GE. LXR Regulation of Brain Cholesterol: From Development to Disease. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2016. 27(6):404-14.

104. Staudinger JL, Lichti K. Cell signaling and nuclear receptors: new opportunities for molecular pharmaceuticals in liver disease. Mol Pharm. 2008; 5(1):17-34.